COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION 11 2012 JUN 22 PM 1:06 STATE OF WASHINGTON BY______ DEPUTY

No. 42940-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

MUTUAL OF ENUMCLAW INSURANCE CO.,

Appellant, v.

GREGG ROOFING, INC.,

Respondent.

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT WITH TYPOGRAPHICAL CORRECTIONS

Brent W. Beecher, WSBA #31095 Attorneys for Appellant HACKETT, BEECHER & HART 1601 – Fifth Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98101-1651 206.624.2200 / 206.624.1767 (fax) bbeecher@hackettbeecher.com

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 The trial court erred in entering final judgment against Mutual of Enumclaw.

2. The trial court erred in denying Mutual of Enumclaw's Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law at the close of counterclaim defendant's, Gregg Roofing, Inc.'s case, because there was no substantial evidence of the value of Gregg Roofing, Inc.'s alleged damage to its reputation.

3. The trial court erred in denying Mutual of Enumclaw's renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law after the jury'returned its verdict for the same reasons described in Assignment of Error No. 1, and alternative Motion for New Trial.

4. The trial court erred in denying Mutual of Enumclaw's Motion for Remittitur because the jury's verdict against Mutual of Enumclaw was grossly in excess of the range of the evidence presented by Gregg Roofing, Inc.

 The trial court erred in excluding evidence of Lowrie's fraud on Mutual of Enumclaw.

The trial court erred in allowing testimony regarding Mr.
 Tiffany's personal feelings about Gregg Roofing, Inc.'s alleged loss of reputation.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the trial court err in determining that Gregg Roofing, Inc., a corporate entity, was entitled to general, unquantified damages for alleged harm to its business reputation? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1,2,3,4)

2. Did the trial court err in determining that evidence that Mutual of Enumclaw had been defrauded by its own employee was irrelevant to the question of whether the employee was acting within the scope of his employment? (Assignment of error No. 1,3,5)

3. Did the trial court err in allowing testimony of the emotional effect that the alleged damage to Gregg Roofing, Inc.'s alleged reputational harm had upon its president, individually?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mutual of Enumclaw Insurance Company is the appellant in the case at bar, but this is not a case about an insurance policy. The insured in the claim at issue, Parkside Church, is not even a party to this lawsuit. This is a case where a jury determined that Mutual of Enumclaw was vicariously liable in the amount of \$1.5 million for the fraudulent acts of one of its claims adjusters, Robert Lowrie, in interfering with contractual relations between the insured a third party. CP 309.

The genesis of the claim was a major rainstorm that damaged the interior of the Parkside Church while the Church was having its roof

replaced by Gregg Roofing, Inc. ("GRI"), the counterclaiming defendant in this case. CP 7. Parkside Church made a claim on its Mutual of Enumclaw insurance policy for the flood damage, and Lowrie was assigned to handle the claim. RP 1142. Lowrie violated Mutual of Enumclaw's standards and duties as an adjuster when he convinced Parkside Church to pull GRI off the job and replace that contractor with Charles Prescott Restoration, Inc. ("CPR"). RP 433, 328, 1386. Lowrie's motivation to recommend this replacement was a personal "relationship" he had with CPR's owner, Donald Chill. Lowrie would hire CPR to repair property casualties insured by Mutual of Enumclaw, inflating the "necessary" scope and cost of repair, and in return, Lowrie was rewarded with gifts and cash kickbacks. RP 543-544. Mutual of Enumclaw was the unknowing facilitator of CPR's largess toward Lowrie, since Lowrie used Mutual of Enumclaw's bank account to fund this fraud while purporting to "adjust" claims. Exhibits 11, 12¹.

In this case, GRI was working on the roof, and presented evidence at trial that it was in the early stages of remediating the storm water intrusion when Lowrie arrived. RP 323. To satisfy his self-interest for gifts and kickbacks, Lowrie hired CPR to repair the damage, convincing the

¹ These exhibits were not admitted by the trial court. Mutual of Enumclaw argues that this was error.

Church to dismiss GRI.

Lowrie's kickback scheme was completely antithetical to Mutual of Enumclaw's ethics and policies. RP 1386. At trial, Mutual of Enumclaw's vice-president of claims testified that if she had known what he was doing, "I would have gotten in my car, driven to Lake Oswego and fired him." *Id.* But neither she, nor anyone else at Mutual of Enumclaw knew what Lowrie was doing. *Id.* Nor was there any evidence that they should have known. Thus after paying the entire cost of repairing the property damage at the Church, Mutual of Enumclaw did what insurers typically do after paying a loss of this nature: pursued a subrogated claim against the party that was legally responsible for some or all of the damage. In this case, that party was GRI. As was presented at trial, there was evidence that GRI's acts and omissions were an important contributing factor responsible for allowing the water to enter the Church in the first place.

Thus this lawsuit began with Mutual of Enumclaw's subrogated claim against GRI for breach of its contractual obligations to protect the interior of the Church during the roofing process. GRI counterclaimed against Mutual of Enumclaw, alleging, *inter alia*, tortious interference with GRI's contractual relations with the Church based on Lowrie's unauthorized actions. CP 11 *et seq.* During the course of this lawsuit, Mutual of Enumclaw discovered that Lowrie had been fraudulently adjusting claims, including the one at Parkside Church. However, since the subrogated breach of contract claim was based on GRI's actions (allowing water into the Church in the first place) before Lowrie even arrived at the scene, Mutual of Enumclaw proceeded with that claim. It is important to note that Mutual of Enumclaw did not seek to recover the cost of the fraudulent work from GRI, only the *objectively reasonable* cost of repairing the property damage caused by the water intrusion. CP 7.

When it discovered the fraud, Mutual of Enumclaw also brought suit against Chill and CPR, which was consolidated with this case. CP 20. On the eve of trial, the court severed the two cases, and granted GRI's motion that "no evidence or argument shall be permitted regarding any fraud. . ." CP 176. GRI's objection to "fraud" evidence was *only* relevance, suggesting that it might elicit sympathy for Mutual of Enumclaw. CP 1615. Mutual of Enumclaw, arguing that the fraud had direct relevance to the issue of whether Lowrie was acting within the scope of his agency while deceiving his employer for his own benefit, made an offer of proof at trial regarding this fraud, Mutual of Enumclaw's response to it, and the criminal prosecution of those involved; the trial court again rejected it, based on its previous Order. RP 1571-2572.

In the discovery process, Mutual of Enumclaw sought to

- 5 -

investigate GRI's counterclaim for tortious interference. CP 1656. GRI alleged that the community's knowledge that GRI had been involved with the Parkside Church project, which stood open and uncorrected for an extended period of time, tarnished its reputation; GRI contended that this resulted in its not being asked to bid on other projects that it would normally have worked on. CP 832. Mutual of Enumclaw particularly sought to establish the damages claimed by GRI in relation to this claim, so that it could properly prepare a defense. Mutual of Enumclaw issued interrogatories requesting that GRI identify its alleged damages relating to its counterclaims, and the method GRI used to calculate these damages. CP 1656. GRI responded in November 2009 as follows:

Based on the discovery to date, GRI claims damages are at least \$15,301.07. Further analysis of GRI's damages is ongoing, GRI reserves the right to supplement its response. GRI contracted to re-roof the Parkside Church roof for \$16,212 plus the cost for replacing dry-rot. GRI performed dry-rot labor on the Parkside Church in the amount of \$1,710. GRI was eventually paid \$12,620.93 for its work on the Parkside Church roof. Accordingly, GRI sustained expectation interest damages in the amount of \$5,301.07. *Further, GRI contends that its business reputation and business was damaged in the amount of at least \$10,000. Id. (emphasis added).*

Similarly, Mutual of Enumclaw issued a Request for Production to GRI requesting all documentation of its alleged damages. GRI failed to produce *any* financial documents. More than ten months after these discovery requests were served, GRI's president, Allen Tiffany, testified at his deposition that he had not bothered to retrieve responsive tax returns from his attic, even though "[w]e save everything for ten years. It's a matter of getting up in the attic and finding them." CP 1635. His only excuse was that his secretary had been on a leave of absence. *Id.* He did, however, testify that GRI's revenue had *increased* every year from the year of the Church job (2005) until 2009, when it did decrease significantly. *Id.* "But," explained Mr. Tiffany, "that doesn't have anything to do with the Parkside Church. That's just the general economy. . ." CP 1635.

Also at his deposition, Mr. Tiffany was asked whether he had calculated the value of GRI's claim for loss of goodwill (which GRI had identified in subparagraph "b" in its interrogatory response). CP 1635. He answered that he had not. *Id*. He was then asked whether he had calculated the value of GRI's claim for lost reputation (identified in subparagraph "c"). He responded: "To me, B and C are kind of the same, so no." *Id*. In sum, pre-trial discovery established the following: 1) GRI claimed its reputation / goodwill was damaged in the amount of "at least \$10,000;" 2) there were no documents to support that claim; 3) GRI's income *increased* every year for the four years following the Parkside incident, only dropping off in 2009, due to general economic conditions *not* related to

Parkside Church; and, importantly, 4) to Mr. Tiffany, GRI's reputation is *the same thing* as its goodwill.

Immediately before trial in September 2011, the trial court ruled that GRI was not entitled to rely on tax records retrieved from Mr. Tiffany's attic because GRI intentionally failed to produce them in discovery. RP 76-85. GRI assured the court that it would not rely on any financial documents to prove that it suffered damage to its reputation / goodwill, and just as it promised, GRI presented absolutely no evidence of the value of the loss it alleged to its reputation / goodwill. Mutual of Enumclaw accordingly made a Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law at the close of GRI's case for failure of proof, which the trial court denied. RP 1850.

The jury returned a special verdict against Mutual of Enumclaw, finding that GRI had not breached the roofing contract by allowing water to enter the Church. CP 309. Without the benefit of Mutual of Enumclaw's proffered evidence pertaining to how Lowrie had departed from his employer's interests to serve his own, the jury determined that Lowrie had been acting within the scope of his employment when, motived by the opportunity for personal gain, he encouraged the Church to dismiss GRI in favor of CPR. Finally, the jury returned a verdict in favor of GRI on its tortious interference claim, finding that GRI had been damaged in the amount of *\$1.5 million. Id.* Mutual of Enumclaw timely filed a renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law on the tortious interference claim, joining it with alternative motions for remittitur and a new trial. CP 318. The trial court denied all of these motions. CP 568. Mutual of Enumclaw timely appeals.

IV. ARGUMENT

1. Standard of Review and Summary of the Argument

a. De Novo. A primary issue in this appeal is whether GRI as a corporation is entitled to the same kind of "reputational" damages as an individual. This is a purely legal issue, reviewed *de novo. Mitchell v. Washington State Inst. of Pub. Policy*, 153 Wn. App. 803, 814, 225 P.3d 280 (2009). As will be discussed below, where a natural person suffers damage to his or her reputation as the result of a tort, damages can include first-person experiential harm: embarrassment, loss of enjoyment of life, loss of dignity, etc. There is a qualitative feeling of severe discomfort to enter a room and have all of your colleagues, who previously held you in high esteem, refuse to make eye contact. A fall from grace is an occurrence that jurors can comprehend, and even though there is no rational way to connect a dollar value to this first-person experience, the jury's verdict is a community consensus of fair compensation, just as it is when the jury is asked to measure pain and suffering in dollars and cents.

- 9 -

Even though a corporation is a fictional entity that has no firstperson experiences, there is nothing inherently wrong with the proposition that a corporation's reputation can be tortiously injured. It just means something else. When a corporation's good reputation has been sullied, its customers may be less willing to buy from it. Its creditors may be less willing to lend to it. And top talent may be less willing to work for it. While these harms can be real, there is an important distinction between them and the kind of first-person experiential damage a natural person suffers from reputational harm; the corporation's injury is to its ability to make money. That harm is measured, both in the real world where people buy corporations, and in the legal world, where courts award judgments for damage to corporate reputations, in terms of the entity's goodwill. It is measured in dollars, not experiential unpleasantness. A threshold legal issue in this case, subject to de novo review, is whether a corporation such as GRI is entitled to an award of substantial damages for alleged reputational harm where its purposeful trial strategy was to conspicuously avoid providing the jury with any way to estimate the damage to its goodwill. By sustaining the jury's \$1.5 million award, the trial court created a false equivalence between first-person experiential harm, which requires no proof of a dollar value, and an injury to corporate goodwill, which does. This was an error of law. The substantial evidence GRI was

required to present under CR 50 and CR 59 was evidence of the amount of damage to its goodwill.

b. Abuse of Discretion. Mutual of Enumclaw also challenges the trial court's denial of its Motion for Remittitur. A denial of a Motion for Remittitur is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Bunch v. King County Dept. of Youth Services, 155 Wn.2d 165, 116 P.3d 381 (2005). But like any discretionary ruling, the discretion is "abused" if exercised on the basis of an incorrect legal conclusion. Wash. State Phys. Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 339, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). Here, Mutual of Enumclaw simultaneously asserts that the trial court erred as a matter of law in its failure to remit by requiring no quantitative evidence of damage to goodwill, but also that the award is so great in comparison with the harm actually presented that it should shock the Court's conscience. See, eg. Bunch, supra. This latter, alternative proposition is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Id.

Mutual of Enumclaw also presents two challenges to the trial court's evidentiary rulings. First, that the court erred in preventing Mutual of Enumclaw from introducing evidence that the way Lowrie defrauded Mutual of Enumclaw was outside the scope of his agency. This was evidence relevant to the key issue of Mutual of Enumclaw's vicarious liability for Lowrie's bad acts. Second, that the court erred in allowing Mr. Tiffany to testify as to how the alleged harm to GRI made *him feel*. This irrelevant evidence was especially prejudicial in the context of this case, where GRI was conflating human, experiential loss with a loss in corporate earnings. These evidentiary challenges are also subject to review for abuse of discretion. *Cole v. Harveyland*, *LLC*, 163 Wn. App. 199, 213, 258 P.3d 70 (2011).

2. The measure of damages for a tortious interference claim.

While there is no reported case in Washington that specifically defines the damages to which a successful plaintiff on a tortious interference claim is entitled, two such cases have cited with general approval the approach in the Restatement (Second) Torts, \$774(A):

> (1) One who is liable to another for interference with a contract or prospective contractual relation is liable for damages for

> (a) the pecuniary loss of the benefits of the contract or the prospective relation;

(b) consequential losses for which the interference is a legal cause; and

(c) emotional distress or actual harm to reputation, if they are reasonably to be expected to result from the interference.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 774A (1979).²

² The Washington cases that mention §774A are Lincor Contractors, Ltd. v. Hyskell, 39 Wn. App. 317, 324, 692 P.2d 903 (1984) and Malarkey Asphalt Co. v. Wyborney, 62 Wn. App. 495, 514, 814 P.2d 1219, opinion corrected, 62 Wn. App. 495, 821 P.2d 1235 (1991).

This Restatement framework does not elucidate the issue of what kind of evidence is sufficient to show that a plaintiff is entitled to each of these elements of damage – a topic addressed in more detail below.

In the case at bar, GRI amorphously asserted a paragraph (a) claim (pecuniary loss of the benefits of the contract with the Church), a paragraph (b) claim (consequential losses relating to an alleged failure to be hired for several other jobs), and a paragraph (c) claim (actual harm to reputation). Mutual of Enumclaw acknowledges that GRI offered sufficient evidence to support a verdict for lost profits on the Church job itself – approximately \$500. RP 1668. The crux of this appeal is whether GRI offered sufficient evidence to support a verdict representing an additional \$1,499,500.00 under (b) and (c). As will be shown below, it did not.

a. Consequential losses for which the interference was a legal cause.

Although the primary harm identified by GRI was alleged damage to its reputation, the only inference that could have suggested such harm was Mr. Tiffany's subjective testimony that he thought GRI was not asked to bid on projects at two churches and a four-building apartment complex as a result of people being aware of GRI's involvement with the damage and dispute at the Parkside Church. At trial, GRI used this lost chance to bid to illustrate the alleged damage to its reputation, but made no effort to satisfy its burden to quantify any of its allegedly consequential losses. The fundamental aspects of this sort of proof would have included some showing of the value of the missed jobs, GRI's profitability (including both labor and materials), and GRI's ability to have accepted them all concurrently. Of course, GRI would not have been required to give exact figures, but there is no reason at all why GRI could not have supplied estimates of these very basic data. Even if the jury extrapolated from Tiffany's testimony that the value of the allegedly missed jobs would have been similar to the Church job (\$16,000) RP 1624, that GRI's profit margin would have been the same 10% as it was on the Church job, and that GRI would have had the ability to roof all of those buildings (6), the losses that GRI would have experienced would be on the order of \$9,600. The jury awarded over one hundred sixty times that amount³. Even giving GRI the benefit of a very substantial doubt, the award still comprises \$1,489,900.00 more than the sum of the first two Restatement elements: the "benefits of the contract" and the "consequential losses for which the interference was the legal cause." That leaves only one category of

³ This same multiplier, if denominated a "punitive" judgment, would violate Due Process under State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408, 410, 123 S. Ct. 1513, 1516, 155 L. Ed. 2d 585 (2003). ("few awards exceeding a single-digit ratio between punitive and compensatory damages will satisfy due process.")

damages under §774A to make up the difference: actual damage to reputation. As will be shown, the "reputation" evidence in the record comes nowhere close to supporting such an award.

b. The legally protected interest of "reputation."

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