FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2012 AUG 28 AM 11:41

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY [Signature]
DEPUTY

No. 42940-3

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MUTUAL OF ENUMCLAW INSURANCE COMPANY, INC.

Appellant,

vs.

GREGG ROOFING, INC.,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
FOR CLARK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE DANIEL STAHNKE

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

BENNETT, BIGELOW
& LEEDOM, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend
WSBA No. 14355
Ian C. Cairns
WSBA No. 43210

By: William J. Leedom
WSBA No. 2321

1109 First Avenue, Suite 500
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 624-0974

1700 7th Ave, Ste 1900
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 622-5511

Attorneys for Respondent

pm 8/27/12

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

own "insurance company's people could do a better job." (RP 593, 598, 615-18, 631-32, 1619)

MOE's employees testified with complete consistency that Lowrie was authorized to direct the church to fire Gregg Roofing.

Jeannie Fleming, MOE's Vice-President of Claims:

Q. Would you agree that he was acting within the scope of his employment . . . and his agency in dealing with the insured, in this case representatives of the Parkside church?

A. Yes.

(RP 1376-77) Robert Klie, MOE's Claims Director:

Q. Okay. He was acting within the scope of his employment to go out to the Parkside church.

A. Yes.

Q. He was acting within the scope of his employment to meet with the pastor.

A. In connection with the claim, certainly.

(RP 1145) Lisa Dubose-Day, MOE's Subrogation Examiner:

Q. Was he representing MOE when he dealt with the insured, the church, Parkside church?

A. (Inaudible), yes.

Q. And was he acting within the course and scope of his employment when he was dealing with the church at the site?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And so when he was advising the pastor on what to do, was he not acting within the course and scope of his employment for [MOE]?

A. Yes.

(RP 1364-65; *see also* RP 1353).

In discharging Gregg Roofing, Lowrie was "performing duties that were expressly or impliedly assigned to" Lowrie by Mutual of Enumclaw. (Instruction 14, CP 302) Indeed, MOE never disavowed Lowrie's conduct. MOE did not even fire Lowrie once it learned that he had recommended the termination of Gregg Roofing on the Parkside Church claim. (RP 1380, 1386)

Judge Bennett's order in limine (CP 691), entered *before* the trial court severed MOE's fraud claims against Chill and his company CPR, did not require the trial court to admit evidence of Chill's criminal misconduct. (See App Br. 41-47) Judge Bennett's order provided that "[e]vidence of CPR/Chill's fraud has to be admissible because recovery is sought from those entities as well. MOE is not vicariously liable for the fraud of CPR/Chill." (CP 694) In ruling that evidence of Chill's criminal misconduct was relevant to MOE's claims against Chill, Judge Bennett expressly refused to make any "findings on genuine issues of fact" and held that "Lowrie may have been acting within the scope of his authority to induce

the Parkside Church to fire/exclude Gregg Roofing.” (CP 691-92) Moreover, Judge Bennett recognized that MOE in fact “afforded [Lowrie] wide latitude in determining the proper course to follow in assisting the church through the crisis authoriz[ing], ratify[ing], or approv[ing] Mr. Lowrie’s involvement with the firing of ServePro and Gregg Roofing.” (CP 608)

Moreover, MOE’s offer of proof that its employee would testify regarding “the facts of the fraud of Mr. Chill” (RP 1572) failed to provide sufficient specificity to allow the trial court to determine the relevance of Chill’s criminal misconduct to a claim against MOE based on the conduct of Lowrie. See *Sturgeon v. Celotex Corp.*, 52 Wn. App. 609, 618, 762 P.2d 1156 (1988) (offer of proof must be sufficient to “advise [the trial court] of the specific testimony to be offered and the reasons supporting its admissibility.”) The trial court could not make any determination of relevance based on the conclusory and summary nature of MOE’s offer of proof.

MOE stresses that Gregg Roofing’s only objection to evidence was relevance (App. Br. 5), but the trial court did not base its ruling on any particular ground. (CP 176) As a result, this court may affirm on any ground supported by the record. *Fulton v.*

State, Dept. of Soc. & Health Services, ___ Wn. App. ___, ¶15, 279 P.3d 500 (2012); *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 659, 790 P.2d 610 (1990) (citing Tegland, 5 *Washington Practice, Evidence* § 10 at 32 (3rd ed. 1989)), *cert denied*, 498 U.S. 1046 (1991).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding evidence of Chill's criminal charge on the ground it was irrelevant. Once MOE's claims against Chill were severed – an order which MOE has *not* appealed – evidence of Chill's criminal acts were of marginal relevance to whether Lowrie was acting within the scope of his employment. ER 401.

The issue here was whether *Lowrie* acted within the scope of his employment when he convinced the church to fire Gregg Roofing, not what Chill did or did not do. The exhibits that MOE sought to introduce do not specifically mention the Parkside Church contract. (Exs. 11-12) Thus, whether Chill acted criminally in his relationship with Lowrie has no probative value to whether MOE authorized Lowrie to direct its insureds to hire and fire roofing contractors to perform work paid for by MOE.

Further, MOE's proffered evidence of Chill's criminal misconduct would have been extremely prejudicial to Gregg Roofing. The evidence rules repeatedly recognize the unfairly

prejudicial impact of evidence of criminal misconduct. See, e.g., ER 404(b), ER 609. Washington courts frequently require exclusion of criminal conduct as unfairly prejudicial. **State v. Wilson**, 144 Wn. App. 166, 177-78, ¶¶29-32, 181 P.3d 887 (2008); **State v. Trickler**, 106 Wn. App. 727, 733, 25 P.3d 445 (2001). Allowing a jury to consider that the federal government, after investigating Chill's conduct, found probable cause that he engaged in a scheme to defraud MOE of millions of dollars would have engendered an unfair emotional bias in favor of MOE that far outweighed any probative value on the issue whether *Lowrie* acted in the scope of his employment by directing the church to terminate Gregg Roofing. **Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors**, 168 Wn.2d 664, 671, ¶17, 230 P.3d 583 (2010) ("When evidence is likely to stimulate an emotional response rather than a rational decision, a danger of unfair prejudice exists.").

The criminal pleadings against Chill would have also been hearsay because MOE offered them to establish the truth of the facts contained in those pleadings. Chill's plea acknowledgment of fraud was an admission admissible only against Chill, not against MOE and its agent Lowrie. The only possible hearsay exception, the public records exception (RCW 5.44.040), could not apply here

because the documents offered by MOE had not been certified by the federal court. See also *State v. James*, 104 Wn. App. 25, 33, 15 P.3d 1041 (2000) (prosecutor's declaration did not meet public records exception to hearsay but admission was harmless error). Because Chill's indictment and plea agreement were offered for the truth of the matter asserted – Chill's criminal misconduct – the trial court did not abuse its discretion in preventing the jury from considering evidence that MOE, which had clothed Lowrie with the authority to recommend contractors to the church, had already suffered enough as a result of Chill's criminal scheme.

3. The Trial Court's Evidentiary Decision Did Not Hamper MOE From Arguing Its Theory, Rejected By The Jury, That Lowrie Acted Outside The Scope Of His Employment.

The exclusion of evidence of Chill's criminal misconduct was not reversible error because it did not prejudice MOE in asserting its theory that Lowrie acted outside the scope of employment. "The exclusion of evidence which is cumulative or has speculative probative value is not reversible error." *Havens v. C & D Plastics, Inc.*, 124 Wn.2d 158, 169-70, 876 P.2d 435 (1994). "The evidence need not be identical to that which is admitted; instead, harmless error, if error at all, results where evidence is excluded which is, in

substance, the same as other evidence which is admitted.” 124 Wn.2d at 170. See also *Miller v. Arctic Alaska Fisheries Corp.*, 133 Wn.2d 250, 262, 944 P.2d 1005 (1997); *Hendrickson v. King County*, 101 Wn. App. 258, 269, 2 P.3d 1006 (2000); see generally Dennis J. Sweeney, *An Analysis of Harmless Error in Washington: A Principled Process*, 31 Gonz. L. Rev. 277 (1996).

Both parties elicited testimony that Lowrie directed insureds to hire CPR in exchange for kickbacks. (RP 543-44, 617-18, 1356, 1360, 1367, 1378, 1386, 1614) This evidence included the fact that Chill was giving Lowrie “gifts and favors” in return for MOE work. (RP 543) Indeed, MOE was allowed to “introduce evidence that Lowrie[] . . . was ‘willfully acting contrary to’ the best interests of MOE. (App. Br. 45) (RP 1370 (“Is there any rule as to whether the agent is supposed to be taking money for themselves? A. They should never do that.”), 1386 (Lowrie’s conduct violated company policy) Likewise, the jury heard evidence concerning how “during the process of adjudicating claims, Lowrie tortiously interfered with [Gregg Roofing’s] contract for his own benefit.” (App. Br. 45) (RP 543-44, 617-18, 1356, 1370)

The criminal pleadings against Chill did not prevent MOE from arguing that Lowrie acted to fulfill his own interests rather than

those of his principal MOE, which clothed Lowrie with authority to terminate Gregg Roofing. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding this evidence.

D. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Allowing Tiffany To Testify That He Was Upset By Termination Of The Church Contract.

MOE dramatically overstates the import of Tiffany's testimony regarding how he "felt" after the church contract was terminated and cannot show that it was prejudiced by the admission of this testimony. (App. Br. 47-49) Tiffany answered that the church fiasco had a "very negative effect on our business and we were naturally very upset by it." (RP 1621; see also RP 1620) Tiffany did not provide any testimony regarding hospitalization or treatment for emotional "harm." Tiffany simply stated the obvious – that the damage to his business's reputation upset him.

The trial court's jury instructions which required Gregg Roofing to prove as a necessary element of the tortious interference claim "damages to *Gregg Roofing*," refute MOE's assertion that the jury awarded damages for emotional harm to Tiffany. (CP 303) Likewise, the contract instruction provided no direction to the jury to award emotional distress damages. (CP

304-05) Juries are presumed to follow instructions. *A.C. ex rel. Cooper v. Bellingham Sch. Dist.*, 125 Wn. App. 511, 521-22, 105 P.3d 400 (2004). MOE can establish no abuse of discretion or reversible error here.

V. CONDITIONAL CROSS-APPEAL

Gregg Roofing asserts the following assignments of error, issues and argument on cross-appeal conditionally, and asks that the court address them only if it remands for a new trial:

A. Assignments of Error On Conditional Cross-Appeal.

1. The trial court erred in refusing to allow Gregg Roofing to amend its complaint to state a cause of action for negligent supervision. (CP 35-40; RP 23, 1846-49; CP 1840-44)

2. The trial court erred by not giving Gregg Roofing's proposed instruction 20 (CP 172) authorizing damages for injury to reputation on its intentional tortious interference with contract claim.

B. Issues Related To Conditional Cross-Appeal.

1. Did the trial court err in refusing to allow Gregg Roofing to amend its complaint to state a claim for negligent supervision based on MOE's approval of Lowrie's fraudulent adjustments and MOE's failure to verify that Lowrie's reports were accurate or that

the damages to the church warranted keeping the claim open for two years?

2. Should the jury be instructed in the event of a remand that Gregg Roofing may recover damages for injury to reputation?

C. Argument On Conditional Cross-Appeal.

1. The Trial Court Erred By Refusing To Allow Gregg Roofing To Amend Its Complaint To State A Claim For Negligent Supervision Against MOE.

Should this court remand for a new trial, it should direct the trial court to allow Gregg Roofing to pursue a negligent supervision claim against MOE. Prior to the court setting a trial date, Gregg Roofing moved to amend its answer to add a cross-claim for negligent supervision. (CP 36, 1808-16) Gregg Roofing's negligent supervision claim alleged that MOE failed to exercise due care in supervising Lowrie's handling of the Parkside Church claim. (CP 35-40) Judge Bennett denied the motion to amend on the ground that the amended complaint "simply restates the wrongful interference with contract claims which I have left in place." (CP 693, 1844)

To establish a claim of negligent supervision of an employee, a plaintiff must prove that "(1) the employee presented a risk of harm to others; (2) the employer knew, or in the exercise of

reasonable care, should have known, that the employee presented such a risk; and (3) the employer's failure to adequately supervise the employee was the proximate cause of plaintiff's injury." *Steinbock v. Ferry County Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1*, 165 Wn. App. 479, 490, ¶¶22, 269 P.3d 275 (2011). A negligent supervision claim thus imposes liability against an employer even when the employee acts outside the scope of his authority. *Niece v. Elmview Group Home*, 131 Wn.2d 39, 48, 929 P.2d 420 (1997). The claim is typically reviewed as an alternate to a claim to liability under the theory of respondeat superior. 131 Wn.2d at 48.

Under CR 15(a), leave to amend a pleading "shall be freely given when justice so requires." "Leave to amend should be freely given unless it would result in prejudice to the nonmoving party." *Kirkham v. Smith*, 106 Wn. App. 177, 181, 23 P.3d 10 (2001). A motion for leave to amend is addressed to the discretion of the trial court, but a trial court abuses that discretion by denying leave to amend without proper justification such as undue delay or prejudice to the opposing party. *Tagliani v. Colwell*, 10 Wn. App. 227, 233, 517 P.2d 207 (1973).

As Gregg Roofing established in its offer of proof, there was substantial evidence that MOE and its supervisor Gloria Carlson

made no effort to supervise Lowrie's exercise of the authority granted him by MOE. MOE took no efforts to comply with its policy requiring extra attention to "Claims of Special Interest" or its Anti-Fraud plan requiring audits of its employees on an "ongoing basis." (Exs. 120-22)¹² Carlson rubber-stamped Lowrie's decision to convince the pastor to fire Gregg Roofing. (CP 1409) Carlson simply took Lowrie at his word regarding Gregg Roofing's actions and the severity of the storm. (CP 1412-13) Nor did Carlson verify that the church actually chose Chill's company as its contractor. (CP 1420)

MOE continued its lack of supervision after Gregg Roofing's termination. MOE took no steps to verify Lowrie's reports that the church had incurred millions in damages were accurate and never suspected that this claim could have been inflated. (CP 36-38, 1408, 1412-13, 1423) Robert Klie, Moe's Claims Director, reviewed the claim on several occasions and approved payments each time. (CP 45; RP 1142) Pastor Elledge called Klie to inform him of his frustrations with MOE's contractor's failure to repair the roof, but Klie still failed to take any action. (CP 46) No one at MOE

¹² Portions of these exhibits were included in Gregg Roofing's offer of proof. (CP 36-37)

questioned why the roof repair claim stayed open for two years.
(CP 1385)

In the event of a remand, there would be no prejudice to MOE in allowing Gregg Roofing to prove a negligent supervision claim as an alternate to its claim for respondeat superior liability. The jury heard substantial evidence that MOE should have known that Lowrie was fraudulently handling claims and that it failed to exercise reasonable care in supervising Lowrie.

The tort of negligent supervision provides an independent basis for MOE's liability if Lowrie was acting outside the scope of his employment as MOE argued below and argues again on appeal. *Niece*, 131 Wn.2d at 48. In the event of a remand, the jury should consider the negligent supervision claim, along with the vicarious liability claim against MOE.

2. The Trial Court Erred By Refusing To Give Gregg Roofing's Instruction Encompassing A Broader Range Of Recoverable Damages.

In the event this court remands for a new trial on damages, it should instruct the jury that Gregg Roofing is entitled to recover damages for injury to reputation, as Gregg Roofing proposed. (CP 172) Respondent raises this issue conditionally, in response to MOE's argument that the instructions given by the trial court

establish the law of the case. (App. Br. 29-34) Under RAP 2.4(a), this court will, "at the instance of the respondent, review those acts in the proceeding below which if repeated on remand would constitute error prejudicial to respondent." The jury should receive proper instructions in the event of a remand regardless whether respondent properly preserved error regarding the instructions given below.

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